
19.0635.04000 FISCAL NOTE
Requested by Legislative Council

04/16/2019

Amendment to: Engrossed HB 1513

1 A. State fiscal effect: Identify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations compared to funding 
levels and appropriations anticipated under current law.

2017-2019 Biennium 2019-2021 Biennium 2021-2023 Biennium

General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds

Revenues

Expenditures

Appropriations

1 B. County, city, school district and township fiscal effect: Identify the fiscal effect on the appropriate political  
subdivision.

2017-2019 Biennium 2019-2021 Biennium 2021-2023 Biennium

Counties

Cities

School Districts

Townships

2 A. Bill and fiscal impact summary: Provide a brief summary of the measure, including description of the provisions 
having fiscal impact (limited to 300 characters).

Eng. HB 1513 with Conf. Committee Amendments adds the family care tax credit to the list of tax incentives for 
interim study. It also removes obsolete language from the income tax law and alters some incentive reporting by 
Department of Commerce relative to BND programs. There is no fiscal impact.

B. Fiscal impact sections: Identify and provide a brief description of the sections of the measure which have fiscal  
impact. Include any assumptions and comments relevant to the analysis.

3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please:

A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type and fund 
affected and any amounts included in the executive budget.

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency, line item, and 
fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected.

C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency and fund 
affected. Explain the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and appropriations. Indicate whether 
the appropriation or a part of the appropriation is included in the executive budget or relates to a continuing 
appropriation.



Name: Kathryn Strombeck

Agency: Office of Tax Commissioner

Telephone: 701.328.3402

Date Prepared: 04/17/2019



19.0635.03000 FISCAL NOTE
Requested by Legislative Council

03/25/2019

Amendment to: Engrossed HB 1513

1 A. State fiscal effect: Identify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations compared to funding 
levels and appropriations anticipated under current law.

2017-2019 Biennium 2019-2021 Biennium 2021-2023 Biennium

General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds

Revenues

Expenditures

Appropriations

1 B. County, city, school district and township fiscal effect: Identify the fiscal effect on the appropriate political  
subdivision.

2017-2019 Biennium 2019-2021 Biennium 2021-2023 Biennium

Counties

Cities

School Districts

Townships

2 A. Bill and fiscal impact summary: Provide a brief summary of the measure, including description of the provisions 
having fiscal impact (limited to 300 characters).

Engrossed HB 1513 with Senate Amendments adds the existing family care income tax credit to the list of income 
tax incentives for interim study every six years. It also removes obsolete language from the individual income tax 
law. The bill has no fiscal impact.

B. Fiscal impact sections: Identify and provide a brief description of the sections of the measure which have fiscal  
impact. Include any assumptions and comments relevant to the analysis.

3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please:

A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type and fund 
affected and any amounts included in the executive budget.

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency, line item, and 
fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected.

C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency and fund 
affected. Explain the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and appropriations. Indicate whether 
the appropriation or a part of the appropriation is included in the executive budget or relates to a continuing 
appropriation.



Name: Kathryn Strombeck

Agency: Office of Tax Commissioner

Telephone: 701.328.3402

Date Prepared: 03/26/2019



19.0635.02000 FISCAL NOTE
Requested by Legislative Council

02/05/2019

Amendment to: Engrossed HB 1513

1 A. State fiscal effect: Identify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations compared to funding 
levels and appropriations anticipated under current law.

2017-2019 Biennium 2019-2021 Biennium 2021-2023 Biennium

General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds

Revenues

Expenditures

Appropriations

1 B. County, city, school district and township fiscal effect: Identify the fiscal effect on the appropriate political  
subdivision.

2017-2019 Biennium 2019-2021 Biennium 2021-2023 Biennium

Counties

Cities

School Districts

Townships

2 A. Bill and fiscal impact summary: Provide a brief summary of the measure, including description of the provisions 
having fiscal impact (limited to 300 characters).

Engrossed HB 1513 repeals three existing income tax credits.

B. Fiscal impact sections: Identify and provide a brief description of the sections of the measure which have fiscal  
impact. Include any assumptions and comments relevant to the analysis.

Section 2 of engrossed HB 1513 repeals the internship, workforce recruitment, and family care income tax credits. 
Section 1 of the bill removes corresponding references to these credits and removes two other obsolete provisions 
in the individual income tax law.

3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please:

A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type and fund 
affected and any amounts included in the executive budget.

The repeal of the three income tax credits is expected to have a negligible fiscal impact, primarily attributable to the 
internship tax credit. Data show that these credits have had minimal to no usage since their enactment. If enacted, 
engrossed HB 1513 is expected to increase state general fund revenues by less than $5,000 for the 2019-21 
biennium.

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency, line item, and 
fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected.



C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency and fund 
affected. Explain the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and appropriations. Indicate whether 
the appropriation or a part of the appropriation is included in the executive budget or relates to a continuing 
appropriation.

Name: Kathryn Strombeck

Agency: Office of Tax Commissioner

Telephone: 701.328.3402

Date Prepared: 02/07/2019



19.0635.01000 FISCAL NOTE
Requested by Legislative Council

01/14/2019

Bill/Resolution No.: HB 1513

1 A. State fiscal effect: Identify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations compared to funding 
levels and appropriations anticipated under current law.

2017-2019 Biennium 2019-2021 Biennium 2021-2023 Biennium

General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds

Revenues $12,200,000

Expenditures

Appropriations

1 B. County, city, school district and township fiscal effect: Identify the fiscal effect on the appropriate political  
subdivision.

2017-2019 Biennium 2019-2021 Biennium 2021-2023 Biennium

Counties

Cities

School Districts

Townships

2 A. Bill and fiscal impact summary: Provide a brief summary of the measure, including description of the provisions 
having fiscal impact (limited to 300 characters).

HB 1513 repeals certain income tax credits and creates new deductions to replace them.

B. Fiscal impact sections: Identify and provide a brief description of the sections of the measure which have fiscal  
impact. Include any assumptions and comments relevant to the analysis.

Section 5 of HB 1513 establishes the background for Sections 1 through 4 of the bill.

Section 5 of the bill repeals the laws governing the planned gift and endowment fund, internship, and workforce 
recruitment income tax credits, which are allowed to all taxpayer types, i.e., individuals, corporations, partnerships, 
etc.

Section 1 of the bill changes the individual income tax law to (1) remove language relating to the planned gift and 
endowment tax credit statute being repealed in Section 5 of the bill and (2) add language creating a new deduction 
for contributing to an endowment fund or making a planned gift to either an endowment fund or a nonprofit 
organization in North Dakota.
 
Section 2 of the bill changes the individual income tax law to (1) remove language relating to the workforce 
recruitment tax credit statute being repealed in Section 5 of the bill, (2) add language creating a new deduction for 
an employer equal to the salary paid in the first 12 months of employment to an employee hired to fill a hard-to-fill 
position in North Dakota, and (3) add language creating a new deduction for an employee equal to the salary 
received in the first 12 months of employment, if the employee was hired to fill a hard-to-fill position in North Dakota.

Section 3 of the bill changes the individual income tax law to add language creating a new deduction for an 
employer equal to the compensation paid to a college student hired for an internship.

(Note: In Sections 1 through 3 of the bill, the language creating the new deductions was placed in section 57-38-
30.3, which will limit the availability of the deduction to an individual, estate, or trust. Further, where the deduction is 
allowed to an employer, the language placement limits the deduction to a sole proprietorship.)

Section 4 of the bill changes the individual income tax law to remove obsolete references to repealed credits.



3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please:

A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type and fund 
affected and any amounts included in the executive budget.

Sections 1 through 5 of HB 1513 replace three income tax credits available to all taxpayer types with four new 
deductions available only to individuals, estates, and trusts.

The repeal of the planned gift and endowment fund income tax credit (Section 5 of bill) and its replacement with a 
new income tax deduction (Section 1 of bill) will result in a significant increase in state general fund revenues. For 
individuals, estates, and trusts, these changes will reduce the tax benefit of a contribution from 40 cents per 
contributed dollar (for the credit) to anywhere from 1.1 cents to 2.9 cents per contributed dollar (for the deduction), 
depending on their tax bracket. C corporations and passthrough entities, such as partnerships and S corporations, 
will lose the benefit of the credit, but will not be allowed the new deduction. Data show that the number of credits 
claimed on individual income tax returns for the last 5 tax years averaged approximately $282,000 for planned gift 
contributions and $6,940,000 for endowment fund contributions. For C corporations, the credits claimed for 
endowment fund contributions averaged approximately $125,000 for the last 5 tax years. 

The repeal of the workforce recruitment and internship income tax credits (Section 5 of bill) and their replacement 
with new income tax deductions (Sections 2 and 3 of bill) are expected to have a negligible, if any, fiscal impact. 
Data show that these credits have had minimal to no usage since their enactment in 2007.

If enacted, HB 1513 is expected to increase state general fund revenues by an estimated $12.2 million for the 2019-
21 biennium.

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency, line item, and 
fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected.

C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency and fund 
affected. Explain the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and appropriations. Indicate whether 
the appropriation or a part of the appropriation is included in the executive budget or relates to a continuing 
appropriation.

Name: Kathryn Strombeck

Agency: Office of Tax Commissioner

Telephone: 701.328.3402

Date Prepared: 01/28/2019
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2019 HOUSE STANDING COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Finance and Taxation Committee 
Fort Totten Room, State Capitol 

HB 1513 
1/29/2019 

31671 
 

☐ Subcommittee 

☐ Conference Committee 

 

Committee Clerk:  Mary Brucker 

 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
A bill relating to individual income tax deduction for the amount paid to employ an intern; 
relating to an individual income tax deduction for planned gifts and workforce recruitment 
expenditures and individual income tax credits that may be claimed by a taxpayer; and 
relating to the planned gift tax credit, internship employment tax credit, and workforce 
recruitment tax credit.   
 

Minutes:                                                 Attachment 1-5 

 
Chairman Headland:  Opened hearing on HB 1513. 
 
Representative Becker:  Introduced bill.  Distributed written testimony, see attachments 1-
3.  This bill deals with tax credits; workforce recruitment, intern tax credit, and the endowment.  
This bill would convert those tax credits to tax deductions in addition to any federal deduction 
they may get.  The premise for this bill is that tax credits are nearly always a bad idea.  
Generally speaking, they are subsidies.  Tax credits have to be paid out by the revenues and 
are dispersed and paid by the taxpayers in general.  They frequently fail to achieve their 
intended purpose, nearly always have unintended consequences, and are a net cost to the 
taxpayers.  Effectively tax credits are increased government spending under the guides of 
tax relief.  The credits in 2007 were implemented as a government solution to a concern 
about workforce.  The credit implemented in 2001 was a great idea that the state could do 
all these things because we had all this money.  After reviewing more of the data and after 
the bill was fully crafted a couple things became apparent to me so I submitted to you an 
amendment.  We’ll exclude the endowment credit and if we look at the workforce recruitment 
credit and the intern credit I found that they are really not used hardly at all.  I also found that 
the family care credit is hardly ever used.  My amendment repeals those three because if 
they’re not being used then let’s get rid of it.  Refers to the handout 1: the family member 
care credit shows not reportable which means that it’s less than five and more than zero.  
The last time it was reportable was in 2011 so it’s just not being used.  The internship program 
credit shows in 2016 it was used 45 times with the average benefit to the participant of 
$156.00.  In 2015 it was only used 19 times and in 2014 it was used only 10 times.  The 
workforce recruitment credit was used zero times in 2016.  It was last reportable in 2011.  We 
can do away with these credits.  If you are trying to participate in the workforce recruitment 
credit you get a 5% credit of the salary of a hard to fill position if you pay over 125% of the 



House Finance and Taxation Committee  
HB 1513 
January 29, 2019 
Page 2  
   

average North Dakota wage, if you advertise for six months, or you used a head hunter, or 
you paid moving expenses, or some other benefit.  It’s so small it’s not an incentive.  You’re 
not going to hire someone if you’re only getting 5% and you’re actually paying 95 percent.  
With the intern credit you get a credit for 10% of the intern pay.  You’re not going to pay 
someone 90% of their salary if they’re not needed.  This incentive does not incentivize.  The 
amendment does not change the endowment.  With the endowment you would be able to 
get a deduction from the state in addition to the deduction you’d already be taking from the 
federal government.  I think we really need to review this and see if it has merit.  The 
endowment is a 40% tax credit in addition to the federal tax deduction if you donate $5,000-
10,000 per charity.  This is not a tax credit for an average North Dakotan.  In 2015 you donate 
$10,000 and the net cost to the donor is $1,750.00.   The North Dakota taxpayers actually 
footed $4,000 of that donation made and their share of whatever the federal tax donation 
would have been.  The state is picking winners and losers.  Why wouldn’t you donate a lot of 
money so you look good to your community and get most of it back while funding the business 
that’s going to take loans from you to complete their projects.  All these tax credits have 
unintended consequences.  I don’t think it’s unreasonable to go back to where we were 
before 2011.  These are all good intentions but I don’t think we have that money.  We’re 
finding that we’re not in a position to do these charitable things that really government should 
be doing anyway.  The endowment tax credit is used quite frequently; I’ve used it myself.  In 
2015 it was used 1,440 times with the average participant getting $4,407.  Presumably, most 
are donating about $10,000.  I think you should take a look at this.  If you find that you don’t 
have the gumption to actually do something about the endowment credit I would hope you 
consider amending it out at the very least and let’s get rid of tax credits we don’t even use.   
 
Representative Ertelt:  Was the fiscal note was done on the initial draft?  I assume it would 
be greater now.  
 
Representative Becker:  The endowment with the amendment is not changed and the 
endowment comprised 99% of the fiscal note, so it won’t be much different at all.   
 
Chairman Headland:  Would you agree that if we just eliminated income tax all these 
problems you cited would go away? 
 
Representative Becker:  I agree with you wholeheartedly.  If we were to tax only what we 
needed to tax, we wouldn’t be in a position to be handing out carve outs and special things.  
If you actually need an income tax, then just do the income tax and there shouldn’t be credits.  
Tax if you need and to what degree you need and that’s it.  Keep the politics out of it if you 
actually stay true to that principle.   
 
Chairman Headland:  Further testimony in support?  Is there opposition? 
 
Dana Schaar Jahner, North Dakota Association of Nonprofit Organizations:  Distributed 
written testimony, see attachment 4.  Ended testimony at 16:57. 
 
Chairman Headland:  What happens to charitable giving if we choose to eliminate income 
tax in North Dakota?  South Dakota doesn’t have an income tax and I assume they still have 
charities that need to be supported with charitable giving.   
 



House Finance and Taxation Committee  
HB 1513 
January 29, 2019 
Page 3  
   

Dana Schaar Jahner:  I think that data has proven that giving incentives is successful and 
would make a huge difference in North Dakota with the endowment tax credit specifically 
because you would lose that incentive in North Dakota.  This is a small portion of how 
nonprofits need to operate annually.  We are the lowest state in in-state foundation assets in 
the country and that was the reason back in 2009-2010 looked at the endowment as a way 
to keep money in North Dakota.  I think that is the reason we continue to support that.   
 
Chairman Headland:  Do you support the elimination of income tax in North Dakota?   
 
Dana Schaar Jahner:  We do not have a position on the elimination of income tax. 
 
Representative B. Koppelman:  In 2017 the Charities Aid Foundation did a study and South 
Dakota, with no income tax, is ranked two states higher than North Dakota who has income 
tax credits.  Do you believe that overall charitable giving in North Dakota would be reduced 
if this credit was changed back to a deduction?   
 
Dana Schaar Jahner:  I believe charitable giving would decrease in North Dakota specifically 
as it relates to endowments if this was changed to a deduction.  It’s much less of an incentive 
than the tax credit.   
 
Representative B. Koppelman:  I agree with you.  If I was going to give $10,000, tax code 
says to give it to the endowment because you’ll get a big tax credit.  Is it possible that it shifts 
around but doesn’t actually reduce the amount of giving that North Dakotans make? 
 
Dana Schaar Jahner:  I still think it makes a difference in how much people are willing to 
give. Anytime there are incentives in place people are able to give more, whether it’s to an 
endowment or to operating dollars for an organization.  It’s true that not all organizations 
have an endowment in North Dakota but they all the ability to do that.  There are other 
organizations that are able to accept those donations and grant out to all different kinds of 
organizations whether it’s arts, human services, education, and all the different organizations 
that may not have one on their own.  Organizations have established endowments which is 
a long term sustainable funding source for them that they didn’t have before this tax credit 
was put in place.   
 
Chairman Headland:  Further opposition?   
 
Mark Haugen, representing himself but is employed with the University of Mary:  My 
wife and I started an endowment in 2000 with $500 and searched for donors.  Around 2006 
the foundation director at St. Alexius said they were at an endowment level and tried to work 
off the earned income.  Later we transferred the endowment to Bismarck State College for 
the paramedic school.  We were informed of an endowment program so we were asked to 
give $5,000 with a tax credit.  It made a big difference and we were able to bring a friend 
along so we were able to triple that endowment.  As I look around the committee every district 
you represent probably has a graduate of the paramedic school that received a scholarship 
from that endowment.  It made a difference in our family.   
 
Chairman Headland:  Further opposition? 
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Kevin Dvorak, president of the North Dakota Community Foundation:  The premise of 
the bill was that the credit would put North Dakota charities, specifically endowments which 
are permanent funds that will stay in North Dakota forever, on a higher level with the donors.  
The incentive was a way to keep the money earned in North Dakota to stay in North Dakota.  
It’s not just about reducing someone’s tax bill; it’s about giving North Dakota charities a higher 
priority among North Dakotans that can qualify for the tax credit.  In the current situation this 
tax credit has been extremely helpful to the North Dakota Community Foundation. The 
donations are increasing because of this tax credit.  We strongly urge you vote no on 
eliminating the tax credit.   
 
Chairman Headland:  The author suggested that at the very least we get rid of some credits 
that aren’t being used.  Do you have any comments or objections to that? 
 
Kevin Dvorak:  The only portion that concerns the North Dakota Community Foundation and 
the nonprofit sector is the tax credit for the endowment and the planned giving.   
 
Chairman Headland:  Further testimony? 
 
Denis Montplaisir, Development Officer/Volunteer Coordinator for the Theodore 
Roosevelt Medora Foundation:  Distributed written testimony, see attachment #5.  Ended 
testimony at 29:18. 
 
Representative Steiner:  What level are your foundations at dollar wise?   
 
Denis Montplaisir:  The Medora Foundation and we have a number of endowments within 
the foundation.  We have two that have just gone over the million-dollar mark.  In the last two 
years those endowments have increased greatly by the gifts that have come taking 
advantage of the tax credit.  This is still a credit and an opportunity that is not widely known 
within the state.  Our president says we want to become the best foundation at promoting 
and encouraging the 40% tax credit because there was such a lack of knowledge of this 
credit.   
 
Representative Steiner:  How are these endowments used?   
 
Denis Montplaisir:  We have multiple endowments within the foundation.  One endowment 
for the performing arts allows us to create opportunities for music and performing arts in 
Medora.  The second endowment is the Medora Wish which provides opportunities for folks 
to come to Medora that couldn’t otherwise get there and it also provides kids’ free activities.  
We have many other endowments for the general works of the Medora Foundation.  All of 
those become opportunities for people to give according to their interests.   
 
Chairman Headland:  Representative Becker distributed information on endowments and it 
looks like this particular endowment is being eaten up by expenses in operations.  Is that 
typical of an endowment? 
 
Denis Montplaisir:  Our organization has a set amount to start an endowment.  The interest 
of those endowments are used to create whatever opportunity that endowment is intended 
for.  The principle then is the part we want to build.   
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Chairman Headland:  After we adjourn could you explain some things to me?  Further 
opposition?   
 
Representative Trottier:  Are there numbers available as to how much these cost the state 
of North Dakota now?   
 
Joe Becker, Tax Department:  Yes, I have information I can bring you.   
 
Chairman Headland:  Yes we would like to see that.  Anything else?  Seeing none we will 
close the hearing on HB 1513. 



2019 HOUSE STANDING COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Finance and Taxation Committee 
Fort Totten Room, State Capitol 

 

HB 1513 
1/29/2019 

31737 
 

☐ Subcommittee 

☐ Conference Committee 

 

Committee Clerk:  Mary Brucker 

 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
A bill relating to individual income tax deduction for the amount paid to employ an intern; 
relating to an individual income tax deduction for planned fits and workforce recruitment 
expenditures and individual income tax credits that may be claimed by a taxpayer; and 
relating to the planned gift tax credit, internship employment tax credit, and workforce 
recruitment tax credit. 
 

Minutes:                                                 No attachments 

 
Representative B. Koppelman:  Representative Becker brought us an amendment.  It 
repeals three tax credits that were not used much.  It also changed the endowments credit 
to a deduction.  I think the best way to pass this bill was to remove the piece that changes 
how the endowment works and make the bill repeal the three tax credits that are seldom 
used.   
 
Chairman Headland:  Let’s wait on this bill until we have an official amendment.   
 
 
 



2019 HOUSE STANDING COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Finance and Taxation Committee 
Fort Totten Room, State Capitol 

HB 1513 
1/30/2019 

31819 
 

☐ Subcommittee 

☐ Conference Committee 

 

Committee Clerk:  Mary Brucker 

 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
A bill relating to individual income tax deduction for the amount paid to employ an intern; 
relating to an individual income tax deduction for planned gifts and workforce recruitment 
expenditures and individual income tax credits that may be claimed by a taxpayer; and 
relating to the planned gift tax credit, internship employment tax credit, and workforce 
recruitment tax credit.   
 
 

Minutes:                                                 Attachments 1-2 

 
Vice Chairman Grueneich:  Representative B. Koppelman would you go through your 
amendment? 
 
Representative B. Koppelman:  Distributed proposed amendment and Christmas tree 
version of the bill.  See attachments 1-2.  MADE A MOTION TO ADOPT THE AMENDMENT. 
 
Representative Hatlestad:  SECONDED 
 
Representative Ertelt:  This is leaving the endowment credit as is in the statute today and 
getting rid of the other three tax credits? 
 
Representative B. Koppelman:  Yes.  The three tax credits are the family care tax credit, 
internship employment tax credit, and the workforce recruitment tax credit which will be 
repealed.  The planned gift tax credit will remain unchanged.   
 
Vice Chairman Grueneich:  Any further discussion on the amendment? 
 
VOICE VOTE:  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Vice Chairman Grueneich:  We have amended HB 1513 before us. 
 
Representative B. Koppelman:  MADE A MOTION FOR A DO PASS AS AMENDED 
 
Representative Hatlestad:  SECONDED 
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Vice Chairman Grueneich:  Is there further discussion? 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE:  13 YES     0 NO     1 ABSENT 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
Representative Kading will carry this bill.   
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2019 SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Finance and Taxation Committee 
Lewis and Clark Room, State Capitol 

HB 1513 
3/6/2019 

Job #33273 
 

☐ Subcommittee 

☐ Conference Committee 

 

      Committee Clerk: Alicia Larsgaard 

 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
A BILL for an Act to amend and reenact subsection 7 of section 57-38-30.3 of the North 
Dakota Century Code, relating to individual income tax credits that may be claimed by a 
taxpayer; to repeal sections 57-38-01.20, 57-38-01.24, and 57-38-01.25 of the North Dakota 
Century Code, relating to the family care tax credit, internship employment tax credit, and 
workforce recruitment tax credit; and to provide an effective date. 
 

Minutes:                                                 Attachments: 1 

 
Chairman Cook: Called the hearing to order on HB 1513.  
 
Representative Rick Becker, District 7, Bismarck: Introduced the bill. See attachment #1. 
We have three tax credits. The workforce recruitment credit started in 2007. The internship 
credit started in 2007 and a family member care credit started in 1997. I am not going to go 
into details because that bill essentially no longer exists. We simply are removing these three. 
If you look in the form I handed to you, you see that the workforce recruitment credit in 2016, 
was used zero times. That last reportable (over 5 times) was in 2011. The other internship 
credit was used the most. It was used 45 times in 2016. The averaging out of the dollars for 
the advantage was only $156. The year prior had only been used 19 times and then prior to 
that, it was used 10 times. The last one we are referencing is the family care credit. The last 
time that was reportable was in 2011. The House committee had amended things out that 
were more contentious and saw fit that these three aren’t really used and to have them is 
probably costing the state more money than the recipients would ever see an advantage to 
getting. We can clean up our code and get rid of those three. I will stand for questions.  
 
Chairman Cook: Any further testimony? Hearing none, we will close the hearing on HB 
1513.  



2019 SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Finance and Taxation Committee 
Lewis and Clark Room, State Capitol 

HB 1513 
3/20/2019 

Job #34010 
 

☐ Subcommittee 

☐ Conference Committee 

 

      Committee Clerk: Alicia Larsgaard 

 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
A BILL for an Act to amend and reenact subsection 7 of section 57-38-30.3 of the North 
Dakota Century Code, relating to individual income tax credits that may be claimed by a 
taxpayer; to repeal sections 57-38-01.20, 57-38-01.24, and 57-38-01.25 of the North Dakota 
Century Code, relating to the family care tax credit, internship employment tax credit, and 
workforce recruitment tax credit; and to provide an effective date. 
 

Minutes:                                                 Attachments: 0 

 
Chairman Cook: Called the committee to order on HB 1513. 
 
Senator Unruh: This bill is looking at repealing a couple of the tax credits we have on the 
books: the workforce recruitment credit, internship credit, and a family care credit. I am not 
sure that all of those are on our review list that we have, particularly the family care credit he 
says is not being used. I think it might be appropriate for us to add that to the review list. I 
think that is the direction I would like this to go. If these should be eliminated, we should be 
looking at them during the interim.  
 
Chairman Cook: I agree and kill this bill.  
 
Senator Unruh: Well, we could turn this bill into that. We could add them to the list if they 
are not on it.  
 
Chairman Cook: Don’t you think the real intent of this bill is to eliminate angel funds.  
 
Senator Unruh: Probably. 
 
Chairman Cook: The rest is just camouflage.  
 
Senator Unruh: Angel funds were not mentioned when the bill was introduced, oddly. I can 
work on amendments.  
 
Chairman Cook: Okay. We will take care of this Monday.  
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Chairman Cook: Called the committee to order on HB 1513.  
 
Senator Unruh: Distributed proposed amendments. See attachment #1.  
The intent of the bill in front of you was to repeal three tax credits. That is what happens in 
section 1 of the bill. Section 1 repeals the family tax care credit, the internship employment 
tax credit, and the workforce recruitment credit. Angel fund investment tax credit is also listed 
here but that was just clean up language. That does not actually effect that or the automation 
manufacturing process tax credit. Those were both just clean up.  
 
The bill actually just repealed those first three that are listed. The internship employment tax 
credit and the workforce recruitment credit are both listed in chapter 54-35.26 which is the 
list of tax credits that are reviewed by the interim tax committee. There is a list there in that 
part of the code. All of them have to be reviewed in a period of 6 years. The interim tax 
committee picks about a third of them and reviews them at length. Both of which the 
internship tax credit and the workforce recruitment credit were included this last interim. What 
is not on that list is the family care tax credit that Representative Becker mentioned had not 
been used in a while.  
 
With my amendments, I reinstated the internship employment tax credit and the workforce 
recruitment credit. We determined, as an interim committee, that they should both stay in 
place. We actually made some changes to one of them this session. The amendments 
restore those and leave them in place. It also leaves the cleanup language for the angel fund 
and the automation. It would take those out of that list because they are not supposed to be 
there anyway. It then goes to the review list and it puts the family care tax credit on the list 
as tax incentives to be reviewed. This next interim, we can take a look at the family care tax 
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credit. We can get some public input and see if it should remain, be changed, or be repealed. 
The amendments just really add that family care tax credit to the list of tax credits to be 
reviewed and leaves everything else the same as it currently is in code.  
 
Chairman Cook: You also removed the repealers? 
 
Senator Unruh: Yes. Also in the process, we left that clean up language. That is why it gets 
confusing.  
 
Senator Unruh: Moved to adopt amendment 19.0635.02001.  
 
Senator Kannianen: Seconded.  
 
Chairman Cook: Any Discussion?  
 
Senator Dotzenrod: About 2/3rds of the way down on page 1, it says remove the overstrike 
over lines 17 and 18. If you remove that overstrike, then those two that are on 17 and 18 will 
be back in. If they are back in, what does that mean? Does that mean they are credits that 
are available as amended? Does it mean they are going to be on a list we are going to review 
in the interim?  
 
Chairman Cook: They are credits that exist today and they will continue to exist tomorrow.  
 
Senator Unruh: If you look at the bill as you have it in front of you, that amends chapter 57. 
That list is in the tax code and that is the list of actual tax credits. The amendments address 
language in chapter 54 which tell the legislative assembly what to do with the tax credits in 
the review. Chapter 57 language, removing the overstrike, allows those credits to stay in 
place and continue with tax credits. Adding the one in the amendments in chapter 54, is for 
the review.  
 
Senator Dotzenrod: Will we have a bill as amended that has two sections?  
 
Senator Unruh: Yes, because of that cleanup language. We do not remove the overstrike 
for angel funds or automation tax credit because Emily said that was cleanup language that 
was included in the original bill. We are keeping that.  
 
Chairman Cook: Senator Dotzenrod, if you look at the repealer on section 2 of the bill on 
line 10 page 2, the three sections of code are also on page 1 line 10, 17, and 18.  
 
Senator Dotzenrod: The bill that came to our committee has three sections in it. We are 
repealing the last two and then we are adding this section 1 here that has the family care 
credit.  
 
Senator Unruh: Correct.  
 
Senator Dotzenrod: I have to admit, it is a little difficult with all the line items here to figure 
out how everything is going to look. However, I think I have the idea.  
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A Voice Vote Was Taken 
 
Motion Carried.  
 
Senator Unruh: Moved a Do Pass on HB 1513 as amended.  
 
Senator Kannianen: Seconded.  
 
Chairman Cook: Any Discussion?  
 
Senator Dotzenrod: About the Angel Fund on lines 19 and 20; those brackets say effective 
for the first taxable year beginning after December 31. We are leaving the overstrike on. Is 
that Angel Fund tax credit still there or are we removing it? By virtue of the bill we got from 
the House, it looks like they are overstriking that and we are leaving that.  
 
Chairman Cook: I believe so.  
 
Senator Dotzenrod: What is the status of the Angel Fund?  
 
Chairman Cook: It stays in place. This is just cleanup language.  
 
Senator Dotzenrod: I can see why you would want to get that December 31 date out of 
there. I thought the rest might stay on. If we leave the overstrike, do we still have the credit?  
 
Chairman Cook: Yes.  
 
Senator Unruh: That could also be indicated, with the repealers that will no longer be a part 
of the bill, that they do not include a repealer for the Angel Fund section of the code or for 
the automation tax credit. They just shouldn’t be on this list. Actually, line 9 on the last page 
of the bill, has Angel investor tax credit in the section listed there. I think we just probably do 
not use that language anymore.  
 
A Roll Call Vote Was Taken: 6 yeas, 0 nays, 0 absent 
 
Motion Carried.  
 
Senator Unruh will carry the bill.  
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Chairman Grueneich:  Opened conference committee on HB 1513.  Senator Unruh, would 
you be willing to remove your amendments and agree with the original version? 
 
Senator Unruh:  No.  When we got this bill all that was left was eliminating three of the tax 
credits.  Two of the three tax credits that were proposed to be removed are on our list of tax 
credits that we’re required to review during interim once every six years.  We reviewed both 
the internship employment tax credit and workforce recruitment credit during this past interim.  
The interim committee decided that they were worth keeping on the books.  No new 
information was presented to us to give us evidence that they should be eliminated.  Some 
are being used at higher levels than others.  Both internship employment and workforce 
recruitment credit really fall under the priorities of this legislative session.  We’re trying to 
recruit people to North Dakota to work and we want to keep the kids we have here.  Both of 
these credits help us do that so taking them off the books now just doesn’t make sense to 
us.  The reason we’re here in a conference committee is that the family care tax credit hasn’t 
been used in some time but in the past two sessions it really involved around the parents 
having access to childcare.  This credit hasn’t been used in a while but it isn’t on our list of 
credits to review in the interim so I thought that since it’s such an important topic we should 
add it to the list of credits to review.  There was no evidence provided to repeal it other than 
it hasn’t been used in a while.   
 
Chairman Grueneich:  HB 1171 is going to deal with workforce recruitment and lines 22 
and 23 might be a very valuable tool that we can gear toward and see how it will work.  My 
biggest hesitation is the family care credit.  You mentioned there wasn’t a lot of research on 
this but I’ve done some research.  In 2017 there were eight credits claimed.  From 2012 to 
2016 it wasn’t reportable because there was less than five.  In 2011 there were five credits 
claimed.  For the last 12 years the best year we ever had was 2006 with 12 credits claimed.  
It isn’t being used and isn’t being taken advantage of.  I’d like Representative Eidson to give 
us some input because he researched this further.   
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Representative Eidson:  We were trying to figure out why the credit wasn’t being utilized 
and we thought that it may have had to do with the ACA taking effect.  I got some information 
back indicating there was a lack of awareness in other issues such as the eligibility limits to 
qualify and that individuals with taxable income at this level may not be able to afford to 
privately pay for care.  When we started looking at the credit this is a pretty cumbersome 
credit and it’s really difficult to qualify for unless you have knowledge of the tax code.  
Personally, I see it as being a potentially good credit but right now it’s a cumbersome thing 
to find.  If it stays I think it needs to be looked at to figure out ways to make the credit easier 
to utilize and not so cumbersome.   
 
Chairman Grueneich:  Dee, my initial reaction is to remove that from the bill.  It seems a bit 
repetitive to restore something that hasn’t been used often over the past 15 years.  Could 
you share your opinion on how you feel about that? 
 
Dee Wald, General Counsel with the Legal Division:  Distributed testimony, see 
attachment 1.  There are a lot of limitations on the amount of credit.  There’s a sliding scale 
so if the credit is reduced by 1%, every dollar of your income over $50,000, or reduced by 
one dollar.  It is a complicated credit.  There are qualifications for the family member that is 
being cared for and that is over the age of 65 years with income of less than $35,000 or they 
are disabled.  In number three the credit is 30% for those family members who are giving the 
care and your income is $30,000 or less.  Then that credit is reduced based on your income 
and the number of qualifying members.  For caregivers whose income exceeds those 
thresholds the credit is 25% or 30% with a 1% reduction for each $2,000 the caregivers’ 
income exceeds $25,000 or $35,000 which is one limitation.  If your income is over $50,000 
the credit is reduced one dollar for every one dollar your income is over $50,000.  It is capped 
at $2,000 for one qualifying member and $4,000 for two or more qualifying members.  The 
ACA may be part of it because you can’t get reimbursed from something else then you’re not 
eligible for this.  It is complicated and pretty limited but there appears to have been some 
people taking in the last few years.   
 
Chairman Grueneich:  Why do you think there was a gap between 2012 and 2016?   
 
Dee Wald:  Why it’s being used in the last year might have something to do with President 
Trump’s plan but I don’t know because it came so late.  Some of it may have to do with how 
low our income tax rates are.  It’s anybody’s guess as to why we’ve had this little surge. 
 
Representative Eidson:  Is this something the tax department could find out if they did a 
study on it or is it speculation?   
 
Dee Wald:  Right now without doing more investigation on what types of social services 
programs are available to individuals it could be looked at but there are a lot of moving parts.  
Human Services had a role in this but in the last few years they have been taken out of it.  I 
think there is information available that would help.   
 
Chairman Grueneich:  Do we know how many people apply but aren’t eligible?  This seems 
a bit cumbersome.  If we studied that would there be a way to streamline it or would the study 
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just reaffirm what we already know which is that the process is cumbersome and not used 
very often? 
 
Dee Wald:  This is a credit that you don’t have to apply for you just claim it on your return.  
It’s the calculation of the credit sometimes.  If you’re over $50,000 you would think more 
people would be eligible to help their family members.  It’s not that people are being denied 
the credit but they just aren’t taking it.  Those two credits are being removed because the 
automation sunsetted and the other two angel fund tax credits was redone last session.  
 
Chairman Grueneich:  Did you say by striking those there is a Senate bill that is removing 
just because of the sunset?  The automation credit on line 10, page 2, if the House bill passes, 
then that would go back in but it would be under separate language? 
 
Dee Wald:  Yes, SB 2046 is the technical corrections bill and it overstrikes that same 
language.   
 
Senator Unruh:  That passed the floor yesterday. 
 
Dee Wald:  It would replace the automation credit but it is a little different from what was in 
law previously.   
 
Chairman Grueneich:  Kelvin has something to introduce to the committee.   
 
Kelvin Hullet, Market Manager for the Bank of North Dakota:  Distributed proposed 
amendment, 19.0635.02002, see attachment 2.  This relates to the business accountability 
legislation.  Prior to this session we had some conversations with the Department of 
Commerce and Senator Cook about making some revisions to the business accountability 
legislation.  Commerce didn’t move forward with that legislation this session.  The Bank of 
North Dakota spoke with Senator Cook about bringing forward an amendment which is what 
is before you.  Under the business accountability legislation there is a requirement that the 
Department of Commerce as an extension of the Bank of North Dakota issues forms for 
reporting out to various economic development programs.  This is for the PACE, Flex PACE, 
Ag PACE and Biofuels PACE programs.  The business accountability reports ask for is job 
creation.  Job creation was the primary driver of our business incentives up until about six or 
seven years ago then based on the number of open jobs in North Dakota we really started 
looking at how to drive investment into the state.  As we look our programs at the Bank of 
North Dakota we have the PACE program, Flex PACE program, Flex PACE for Affordable 
Housing, Ag PACE, Biofuels PACE, and within those programs there are no requirements 
for job creation.  Our PACE programs, particularly in the PACE and Flex PACE levels, are 
driven by the communities who have to make a decision that they believe the investment 
being made by a business is in the best interest of their community.  They have to put skin 
in the game.  Somewhere between 15% and 35% of the buy down comes in from the 
community.  In the amendment we are one paragraph in the accountability section.  We are 
sending out over 700 forms of which they are asking for job creation numbers on programs 
that don’t require job creation but yet we still have to chase those forms.  We’re asking to be 
exempted out of that whole process.  We are prepared to talk about the impacts of PACE, 
Flex PACE, and such but we would prefer to do it in a different way other than chasing forms 
that don’t make a lot of sense.    
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Chairman Grueneich:  On lines 22-23, how will HB 1171 fit in with what you’re doing with 
the internship employment tax credit and the workforce recruitment?  
 
Kelvin Hullet:  I don’t have that bill up.   
 
Dee Wald:  It doesn’t make an impact.   
 
Chairman Grueneich:  We have an amendment before us.  What are the committee’s 
wishes? 
 
Senator Unruh:  I’ve got a subcommittee member absent so could I take him the information 
and come back when he is able to participate? 
 
Chairman Grueneich:  Yes.  We will not make a motion on the amendment before us.  Is 
there any further discussion on the proposed amendment or any other items on HB 1513? 
 
Senator Dotzenrod:  On this family care credit and being this late in the session, is it not 
realistic for us to try and change some of the parameters that exist?  This is such an important 
issue.  If this committee thinks it is worthwhile could we expand some of these limits and 
check back in a few years to see if it more workable rather than abandoning it? It seems like 
it’s an issue to try and save.  We could try to take that section of code on the family credit 
and propose some expanded limits.    
 
Chairman Grueneich:  The bill you’re referring to passed on the House floor.  That was a 
great credit that wasn’t being used and once we changed some of the texture it made it more 
palatable.  I think it turned out to be a great bill.  From what I got out of your testimony I feel 
you were volunteering to put something together between now and our next conference 
committee.  I believe Representative Eidson shares the same level of passion on trying to 
make this credit more functional.  It’s still a dollar amount that doesn’t have a substantial 
impact.  Unless we can find a way to put this credit to work I would be more inclined to remove 
this.  We have 15 years of history to show that it’s not being used.  I’m wide open to the 
discussion. 
 
Senator Dotzenrod:  I’d be willing to look at that and bring some numbers back for the next 
time we meet.  
 
Chairman Grueneich:  Is there anything else?  We will close the hearing.   
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Chairman Grueneich:  Opened the conference committee on HB 1513.  Does the Senate 
want to recede their amendments? 
 
Senator Unruh:  No thank you.  Would the House like to accede to the Senate amendments? 
 
Chairman Grueneich:  I’m open for discussion.   
 
Senator Dotzenrod:  At our last meeting we discussed the family care tax credit.  On the bill 
version .02001 on line 15, based on the discussion there was a question if we should leave 
it in there or not because it’s not used much.  If you look at that section of code, it is very 
clumsy and cluttered.  Are we not using it because it’s so difficult to understand and there 
are so many hoops you have to jump through?  I discussed this with Emily from Legislative 
Council and we tried to find ways to make it simpler.  It was a question if it was amenable to 
fix and be simplified.  I’m unsure if we want to try and fix it.  I’ll have Emily explain how the 
law works now and how there are ways to simplify it.   
 
Emily Thompson, Legislative Council:  We looked at some possible ways to simplify that 
language.  Right now an individual can claim a credit against their individual income tax in 
an amount of the qualified care expenses they pay for a qualifying family member for the 
taxable year.  The section defines what a qualified care expense is and what a qualified 
family member is.  A family member is anyone in your family with a taxable income of $20,000 
or less or if they are married their income is $35,000 or less.  They must be either related to 
you by blood or marriage and must be age 65 years or older or disabled.  The qualified care 
expenses are the basis for the credit which include home health agency services, personal 
care services, respite care, and anything that is not a deductible medical expense under the 
internal revenue code.  Sections 4 and 5 are quite complicated in determining what 
percentage of that expenditure you’re using to take care of that relative is counted as the 
credit.  There is either a percentage or a dollar amount of credit.  If you’re a taxpayer and 
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your income doesn’t exceed $25,000 or if married $35,000, then it is 30% of whatever you 
spend is your credit.  If your income exceeds those amounts, it’s 20% of those expenses or 
30% minus 1% of the expenses for each $2,000 or a fraction of $2,000 by which your income 
exceeds $25,000 or $35,000 as married.  There’s also a dollar amount of the credit available.  
It’s reduced by one dollar for each dollar of taxable income over $50,000 if your income 
exceeds that as a single person and reduced by one dollar for each dollar of taxable income 
over $70,000 for taxpayers whose income exceeds $70,000.  There’s another step if you’re 
a higher income individual.  There is a limit of $2,000 per family member in a taxable year or 
$4,000 total if you’re caring for multiple family members.  This credit hasn’t been claimed 
much which was the reason it was overstruck initially but then it was revived.  I have some 
of the numbers.  Distributed testimony, see attachment 1.  There’s quite a process to go 
through.  In 2006 just under $9,000 was claimed and only 12 taxpayers claimed it.  In 2007 
there were eight returns just under $7,000.  In 2008 and 2009 there were five returns in both 
years with $3,000 in one year and $2,000 in the next year.  In 2010 there were eight returns 
with $7,000 and in 2011 there were five returns just under $5,000.  From 2012 to 2016 it was 
claimed on less than five returns so we can’t report the amounts for confidentiality purposes.  
In 2017 it was only claimed on eight returns with $6,000 claimed.  To clean up that section 
and make it more user friendly to determine what your credit would be we made it a straight 
30% of whatever your qualified care expenses are for caring for that family members. We 
retained the cap of $2,000 per qualified family member that you’re caring for or a max of 
$4,000 if you’re caring for multiple family members.  There was a tweak to the maximum 
income that person you’re caring for can have which was increased from $20,000 to $30,000 
if they’re an individual or increased from $35,000 to $55,000 if they are married.  That was 
based on inflation since the last time it was amended.  Those numbers hadn’t been changed 
in quite some time.   
 
Chairman Grueneich:  What type of expansion could this bring by cleaning up the process?   
 
Emily Thompson:  I reached out to the Tax Department but I haven’t heard back yet on 
what that estimation would be on the fiscal note.  They are not going to be able to provide an 
exact number because we don’t know the number of claimants.  They were asked to take a 
historical look.  I don’t know that it would create a very large fiscal note based on how small 
the universe of claimants is now and the fact that there are still those caps built in.   
 
Senator Dotzenrod:  As far as these income thresholds, I asked Emily to inflate them to get 
them from where they were last up to where they should be today if they were steady.  We 
left the maximum dollar amount that could be claimed the same since I thought they were 
fairly high.  Do we want to keep this on the list or do we want to strike it?  I think there is some 
merit in keeping it there.  There are ways to make this much simpler.  I would hope that would 
be the consensus of the committee.  Can it be done in a way that it can be straightforward?  
I think we would probably get more use of it if it were easier to use but the numbers we have 
currently are quite small. 
 
Chairman Grueneich:  We had an amendment from the Bank of North Dakota brought in 
on Monday, version .2002.  What are the committee’s wishes? 
 
Senator Unruh:  I’m not sure that if we do decide to add that on if that happens with our final 
motion? 
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Chairman Grueneich:  That is correct the House would accede to the Senate amendments 
and further amend.  Dee could you please explain the amendments? 
 
Dee Wald, General Counsel for the Tax Commissioner’s Office:  The Bank of North 
Dakota wants to be exempt from the business incentive agreement reporting for programs 
such as Flex PACE, PACE, and other interest buy down provisions.  It would take them out 
of that annual reporting section of the law.   
 
Chairman Grueneich:  This is something that’s not being used? 
 
Dee Wald:  I’m not sure about that.  Flex PACE and PACE and quite popular programs.  
When you apply for those programs you have to file a disclosure agreement so your 
information can be disclosed.  There’s a lot of things the applicant would have to go through 
to obtain the incentive and retain the incentive with having to pay back.   
 
Representative Blum:  Made a motion to Accede to the Senate Amendments and 
Further Amend. 
 
Representative Eidson:  Seconded. 
 
Roll Call Vote:  6 Yes     0 No     0 Absent 
 
Motion carried. 
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Chairman Grueneich:  Opened the conference committee on HB 1513.   
 
Senator Unruh:  Made a motion for the Senate to recede from Senate Amendments. 
 
Senator Meyer:  Seconded. 
 
Roll Call Vote:  6 Yes     0 No     0 Absent 
 
Motion carried.   
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